
LEELANAU COUNTY SOLID WASTE COUNCIL 
Date:  TUESDAY, JULY 25, 2023 at 1:00 PM 

Location:  Leelanau County Government Center  
(Proceedings of the meeting are being recorded and are not the official record of the meeting; 

the formally approved/accepted written copy of the minutes will be the official record of the meeting.) 

DRAFT AGENDA 
(Please silence any unnecessary cellular/electronic devices) 

 CALL TO ORDER 
 ROLL CALL  
 PUBLIC COMMENT 
 STAFF COMMENTS  
 CONSIDERATION OF AGENDA 
 CONFLICT OF INTEREST
 CONSIDERATION OF APRIL 4, 2023 MINUTES pgs. 2-5 
 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 NEW BUSINESS 
A. Update - CROWD Composting group

B. RFPs & Recommendation to County Board for new contracts
a. Household Hazardous Waste – ERG Proposal pgs 6-22, Current & Proposed Pricing – pgs 23-24
b. Electronics services and Document Shredding

Comprenew Proposal pgs 25-33, Current & Proposed Pricing – pgs 34-35
BARC Proposal – pg 36-41

C. Materials Management Plan Planning Committee structure – Recommendation to County Board (see attached
for required membership) pgs 42-54
a. Recommend Restructure of the SWC to become the MMP Planning Committee
b. Recommend a new MMP Planning Committee

 COMMUNICATIONS / CORRESPONDENCE 
Approval Process for Plan  pg 55 
Recycling Volumes pgs 56-58 
Revenue & Expense Report  pgs 59-61 

 PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 STAFF COMMENTS 
 MEMBER / CHAIRPERSON’S COMMENTS 
 ADJOURNMENT 

SWC Members 

Lois Bahle 
Kathy Cavanaugh 

Pat Deering 
John Fletcher 
Andrew Gale 

Tom MacDonald 
Tom Petersen 
Carrie Sharp 
Kama Ross 

Ex-officio:  Mark Bevelhymer, 
Jim Palmer 

Page 1 of 61



 

SWC 4-4-23 Minutes    pg.1 
 

A regular meeting of the Leelanau County Solid Waste Council was held on Tuesday, April 4, 2023 at 
the Leelanau County Government Center. 
 
CALL TO ORDER:  Meeting was called to order at 1:00 pm by Chair Lois Bahle. 
 
ROLL CALL 
Members Present: L. Bahle, C. Sharp, K. Cavanaugh J. Fletcher, A. Gale, T. Peterson, P. Deering  
   J. Palmer, M. Bevelhymer (Ex oficio members)   
 
Members Absent: K. Ross, T. MacDonald  
(Prior Notice)   
 
Staff Present:  T. Galla  
 
Public Present:  14 people total 
   T. Dowd, R. LaPorte, Sarna Salman 
 
Bahle asked for all members to introduce themselves.   
Cavanaugh stated she is from Lake Leelanau, Fletcher from Lake Leelanau, Sharp from Maple City, 
Bevelhymer from Green For Life (GFL), Gale from Bay Area Recycling for Communities (BARC), Deering 
from Cedar, Palmer from Gaylord of Waste Management, Bahle from Suttons Bay and Peterson of 
Burdickville.  
 
PUBLIC COMMENT – None. 
 
STAFF COMMENTS 
 
Galla provided information on the scrap tire and mattress recycling collections held in May and June as 
well as the household hazardous waste (HHW), electronics, and document shredding collections held 
this year.  A new addition to the May collection, will be eye glasses collected for the Suttons Bay Rotary 
Club to refurbish for an eye clinic in Esperanza, Honduras.  Galla also mentioned that this year the SWC 
will need to renew the recycling agreements with all of the recycling sites except for the Cedar location. 
She will be sending out notifications for renewal. Lastly, a zoom meeting will be presented to learn more 
about the changes to Part 115 and the materials management plan that counties need to do. There are 
also dollars available for projects and grants which she will pass along to members.   Bahle said the 
Suttons Bay Rotary Club has been doing the eyeglasses project for many years and gave thanks for 
allowing them to be collected at the HHW collection and used for ‘Doctors without Borders’.   
  
CONSIDERATION OF AGENDA 
Motion by Gale, seconded by Sharp, to accept agenda as presented. Motion carried 7-0. 
 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST – None. 
 
CONSIDERATION OF JANUARY 3, 2023 MINUTES 
Motion by Gale, seconded by Sharp, to approve the minutes as presented.  Motion carried 7-0. 
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS- None. 
 

Page 2 of 61



SWC 4-4-23 Minutes    pg.2 

NEW BUSINESS 
RFPS – HHW/Electronics services and Recycling Services after 2023 

Galla said she sent everything to corporate counsel, they developed a new Request for Proposals (RFP) 
because the HHW agreements expire at the end of this year and they need to put that out for bidding 
since there are no more extensions allowed on the contract. The attorneys finalized the RFP and she will 
send members a copy to review and to make any comments or suggestions. Galla pointed out that GFL 
has submitted a request to extend their contract for another 5-year term which is written into the 
agreement under the current conditions. Galla will be taking this request to the County Board for 
approval.  

Motion by Gale, seconded by Peterson, to accept the extension request from GFL under current terms 
and send it to the County Board for approval. Motion carried 7-0. 

Composting Presentation – Bob LaPorte 
Presenters introduced themselves as Tim Dowd of Cedar, Tim Overdier of Northport, and Dr. Bob 
LaPorte of Northport. Dowd thanked those in the audience that came to support the composting issue.  

Dowd stated the biggest concern is that USA landfills incinerate enough organic material each year to fill 
a line of 18 wheelers from New York City (NYC) to Los Angeles 10 times. Dowd mentioned a study done 
on composting to tackle global warming, reduction of landfill use and incinerators. Food scraps and yard 
material make up 30% of materials in landfills and paper, wood, and textiles make up another 29%. 
Other stuff that is compostable make up another 20%. Composting can support agricultural systems. A 
study found that 1/3 of top soil is already degraded. Supporting local community composting programs 
helps a lot.  

Dowd spoke about what could be done to get this program started.  Making composting material pickup 
cheaper than garbage pickup, selling the product. Requiring large producers of organic waste to bring to 
composting facilities and not landfills, encourage it at schools, and in backyards. On January 31 they met 
with Galla, Bahle and others and brought up possible locations of an old landfill or Deering’s in southern 
Leelanau County.  They looked at a parcel where there is a drive and is owned by state of Michigan. It 
has lots of beneficial locations for composting such as, access to state highway, decent road to cul de 
sac.  He did some research on it and it was approved by Kasson Township for government activities.   

Gale asked who at the state owns it?  Dowd said they called the Department of Natural Resources (DNR) 
and are waiting to hear back from Matt Fletcher at state.  LaPorte said on this property, there is a huge 
square where clearcutting has occurred. It would be interesting to have a piece of property like that next 
to a site for composting. The County will be an important part of this whole project. 

Overdier talked about tree waste, leaf bags full of twigs that have been taken to a site and burned. It’s a 
carbon rich resource that could be used for bio-char. Bio-char is indigenous technology from amazon.  
Technology has been used for years.  Bio-char is a stable material that lasts thousands of years.  Tubular 
pores are left and it holds nutrients, gases, keeps CO2 from going into the atmosphere.  Overdier 
reviewed the reasons to use Biochar with compost:  odor control, GHG reduction, nutrient absorption, 
double the carbon sequestration, biodiversity increase. Bahle asked about biochar and open burning?  
Overdier said they have a lot of material and Gale said he has material from mattress recycling.  Barry 
Krull is selling it with his compost and people are loving it. Palmer said right behind Glen’s Landfill is an 

Page 3 of 61



SWC 4-4-23 Minutes    pg.3 

old county run landfill that could be suitable for this.  He wonders what the process is to make it biochar 
for the amount you need – a kiln?  Overdier said there is a whole range of kilns. There is a group in 
Oregon using biomass plants. Deering said there is a place in Michigan that has some similar to Oregon-
out of Marquette.  Overdier said there is a group in Marquette that bought patents to make this stuff. 
Bahle said it might be interesting if there was a model with similar population like Leelanau County to 
see how it would apply, economically? Overdier said there is a whole range of people in the industry and 
academics looking at this right now.  Some have a 10-year plan to do the research and answer the 
outstanding questions.   

LaPorte one of the things that is interesting to know is it is a process to burn in a low oxygen 
environment.  Open fire has high oxygen. Cut off that process and do a slow burn, low oxygen and know 
when to stop it. It saves carbon and you have a product that is all carbon and compact. What’s also 
interesting is it can help clean our air. Munson has 6 hospitals and come up to about a 900-bed capacity 
and by taking those food scraps came up with 487 tons of waste, just by scraping plates.  That can 
reduce greenhouse gas omissions that are not landfilled, by 64%. It can also prevent the most dangerous 
greenhouse gases:  co2, methane, and nitrous oxide.   Second thing composting can do is treat polluted 
water or prevent it.  Composting can bring back all of those microorganisms, shredders, worms, 
millipedes, nematodes, nothing is wasted in nature.  They keep the living soil.  There is a theory now 
that soil is a living component because it needs air, water and needs to breathe.   

LaPorte would like to ask the SWC to please allow them to continue to do some of this work in 
partnership with the County and several other non-profits in the ten-county area, and ask that they can 
put together a subcommittee to work on these issues and come up with goals for next phases. Maybe in 
next six months or so they can apply to FLOWS (for love of water) and create a partnership with the 
County and others for sustainable funds.   

(A copy of the PowerPoint is available in the Planning & Community Development Office.) 

Gale liked the idea of putting a facility like that with biochar next to a landfill.  Has anyone done research 
on using the methane gas as a heat source for creating the biochar? LaPorte said it was not in their 
horizon right now  

Bahle said the recycling program started in Leelanau County with a bunch of volunteers and semis and 
participants came by on Saturday and went up steps to dump their materials. This is the next step with 
some eager volunteers. Sharp asked if they are looking for a sub group?  Bahle said in their goals they 
were talking about backyard composting.  LaPorte said Sarna is the executive director at SEEDS. This was 
a 10-county composting project.  They want to get more counties included and SEEDS is willing to help.   

Discussion ensued on a few members volunteering to work with Dowd, LaPorte, and Overdier on 
composting. Gale, Sharp, Cavanaugh and Peterson were interested in biochar and composting 
workshops. SWC members will report back at a future meeting. 

LaPorte asked about Deering’s composting program.  Deering said they moved most of their processing 
out of the yard in Kasson Township. It needs to be out of sight because of odor and amount of 
compostables in food waste that looks like trash blowing around. Gale said he looked at the area they 
discussed as well the old landfill area.  The parcel in section 36 area is forested and they are clearcutting.  
Palmer met with a forester that was there before and doing it to manage wildlife.  Palmer pointed out 
the location on map of the old county landfill.   

Page 4 of 61



SWC 4-4-23 Minutes    pg.4 

LaPorte said there are a lot more issues with securing a site than anything else.  Palmer said they need 
to be very, very clear on what they are asking for. Confusion will get you a no. Bahle said to get with 
members after the meeting to distribute information.  Gale clarified that the SWC is an advisory to the 
board. Bahle thanked members for their presentation and to the public for attending.   

COMMUNICATIONS/CORRESPONDENCE 

Galla said a fence is needed for the recycling site at Buntings.  They may need a special meeting to make 
a recommendation on that and take it to the County Board, as well as anything else that may come 
before the SWC. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS – None. 

STAFF COMMENTS – None. 

MEMBER/CHAIR COMMENTS – None.   

ADJOURNMENT 
Meeting adjourned at 2:10 pm. 

Page 5 of 61



Page 6 of 61



Page 7 of 61



Page 8 of 61



Page 9 of 61



Page 10 of 61



Page 11 of 61



Page 12 of 61



Page 13 of 61



Page 14 of 61



Page 15 of 61



Page 16 of 61



Page 17 of 61



Page 18 of 61



Page 19 of 61



Page 20 of 61



Page 21 of 61



Page 22 of 61



Page 23 of 61



Page 24 of 61



Page 25 of 61



Page 26 of 61



Page 27 of 61



Page 28 of 61



Page 29 of 61



Page 30 of 61



Page 31 of 61



Page 32 of 61



Page 33 of 61



Page 34 of 61



Page 35 of 61



Page 36 of 61



Page 37 of 61



Page 38 of 61



Page 39 of 61



Page 40 of 61



Page 41 of 61



NATURAL RESOURCES AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION ACT (EXCERPT)
Act 451 of 1994

SUBPART 11
MATERIALS MANAGEMENT PLANS

324.11571 Approved materials management plan (MMP); county approval; notification of
intent; requirements; time period; county approval agency (CAA); duties; electronic mail.
Sec. 11571. (1) The department shall ensure that each county has an approved materials management plan.

The approved solid waste management plan in effect on the effective date of the amendatory act that added
this section remains in effect until a materials management plan has been approved for the planning area
under this subpart. Before a materials management plan is approved for a county pursuant to section 11575, a
solid waste management plan may be amended pursuant to the procedures that applied under section 11533
and former sections 11534 to 11537a immediately before the effective date of the amendatory act that added
this section.

(2) The planning area of a single MMP may include 2 or more counties if the county boards of
commissioners of those counties agree to the joint exercise of the powers and performance of the duties under
this subpart of the county boards of commissioners and of the county approval agencies. In addition, if the
department is responsible for preparing the MMP for 2 or more counties under section 11575, the department
may include those counties in the planning area of a single MMP and may exercise its powers and perform its
duties under this subpart for those counties jointly.

(3) Multicounty MMPs are subject to the same procedure for approval as single-county MMPs, and each
county board of commissioners shall take formal action on a multicounty MMP as appropriate. A multicounty
MMP shall include a process to ensure that the requirements of section 11578 are met.

(4) All of the municipalities of a county shall be included in the planning area of a single MMP. However,
a municipality located in 2 counties that are not in the same planning area may request that the entire
municipality be included in the planning area for 1 of those counties and excluded from the planning area of
the other county. A municipality that is adjacent to a county boundary may request that it be included in the
planning area of the MMP for the adjacent county. A request under this subsection shall be submitted to and
is subject to the approval of the county board of commissioners of each of the affected counties.

(5) Within 180 days after the effective date of the amendatory act that added this section, the department
shall, in writing, request the county board of commissioners of each county to submit to the department a
notice of intent to prepare an MMP. Within 180 days after the request is delivered, the county board of
commissioners shall submit the notice of intent. If the county board of commissioners declines to prepare an
MMP, all of the following apply:

(a) The county board of commissioners shall notify the municipalities in the county and the regional
planning agency for the county of its decision.

(b) All the municipalities in the county, acting jointly, or the regional planning agency may, within the
remaining balance of the 180-day time period applicable to the county board of commissioners, submit to the
department a notice of intent to prepare an MMP.

(c) Upon request of the municipalities or regional planning agency, the department may extend the
deadline under subdivision (b) to allow the municipalities and regional planning agency an opportunity to
determine which will submit the notice of intent.

(6) If a notice of intent is not submitted to the department by the applicable deadline under subsection (5),
the department may prepare an MMP for the county, subject to section 11575(11).

(7) A notice of intent under subsection (5) shall meet the following requirements, as applicable:
(a) State that the county board of commissioners, all the municipalities in the county, acting jointly, or the

regional planning agency for the county, whichever submits the notice of intent, will prepare an MMP and
will be the county approval agency.

(b) For a county with a population of less than 250,000, be accompanied by both of the following:
(i) Documentation that the county approval agency consulted with each adjacent county regarding the

option of preparing a multicounty MMP pursuant to the urban cooperation act of 1967, 1967 (Ex Sess) PA 7,
MCL 124.501 to 124.512.

(ii) Documentation of the outcome of the consultations, including a copy of any interlocal agreement
identifying the process for creating a multicounty MMP.

(c) For a county with a population of 250,000 or more, be accompanied by both of the following:
(i) Documentation that the county approval agency submitted to the county board of commissioners of

each adjacent county a request to respond within 30 days indicating the adjacent county's interest in the option
Rendered Tuesday, June 20, 2023 Page 1 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 45 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

Page 42 of 61

TGalla
Highlight



of preparing a multicounty MMP pursuant to the urban cooperation act of 1967, 1967 (Ex Sess) PA 7, MCL
124.501 to 124.512.

(ii) Documentation of the outcome of the request, including a copy of any interlocal agreement identifying
the process for creating a multicounty MMP.

(8) The submittal of a notice of intent under subsection (5) commences the running of a 3-year deadline for
municipal approval of the MMP and submission of the MMP to the department under section 11575.

(9) Not more than 30 days after the submission of a notice of intent to the department under subsection (5),
the CAA shall do all of the following:

(a) Submit a copy of the notice of intent to the legislative body of each municipality located within the
planning area.

(b) Publish the notice of intent in a newspaper or by electronic media having major circulation or
viewership in the planning area.

(c) Request publication of the notice of intent on websites of local units of government in the planning area
and other multimedia outlets as appropriate.

(10) The CAA shall also do all of the following:
(a) Within 120 days after submitting the notice of intent, designate a planning agency and an individual

within the DPA who shall serve as the DPA's contact person for the purposes of this subpart.
(b) Appoint a planning committee under section 11572.
(c) Oversee the creation and implementation of the DPA's work program under section 11587(4).
(d) Upon request of the department, submit a report on progress in the preparation of the MMP.
(11) All submittals and notices under this section and sections 11572 to 11576 shall be in writing. A

written notice may be given by electronic mail if the recipient has indicated that the recipient will receive
notice by electronic mail and has specified the electronic mail address to which the notice is to be sent.

History: Add. 2022, Act 250, Eff. Mar. 29, 2023.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Solid Waste Act

324.11572 Planning committee; membership; terms.
Sec. 11572. (1) Within 180 days after the CAA submits a notice of intent to the department under section

11571, the CAA shall appoint a planning committee. The planning committee is a permanent body. Initial
planning committee members shall be appointed for 5-year terms. Their immediate successors shall be
appointed for 2-, 3-, 4-, or 5-year terms such that, as nearly as possible, the same number are appointed for
each term length. Subsequently, members shall be appointed for terms of 5 years. A member may be
reappointed.

(2) If a vacancy occurs on the planning committee, the CAA shall make an appointment for the unexpired
term in the same manner as the original appointment. The CAA may remove a member of the planning
committee for incompetence, dereliction of duty, or malfeasance, misfeasance, or nonfeasance in office.

(3) The first meeting of the planning committee shall be called by the designated planning agency. At the
first meeting, the planning committee shall elect from among its members a chairperson and other officers as
it considers necessary or appropriate. A majority of the members of the planning committee constitute a
quorum for the transaction of business at a meeting of the planning committee. For the purposes of
determining the quorum, the number of members of the planning committee is the number as established
under subsection (4), excluding any unfilled vacancies created in the past 90 days. The affirmative vote of a
majority of the number of members of the planning committee as established under subsection (4) is required
for official action of the planning committee. A planning committee shall adopt procedures for the conduct of
its business.

(4) A planning committee shall consist of the following members:
(a) A representative of a solid waste disposal facility operator that provides service in the planning area.
(b) A representative of a hauler that provides service in the planning area.
(c) A representative of a materials recovery facility operator that provides service in the planning area.
(d) A representative of a composting facility or anaerobic digester operator that provides service in the

planning area.
(e) A representative of a waste diversion, reuse, or reduction facility operator that provides service in the

planning area.
(f) A representative of an environmental interest group that has members residing in the planning area.
(g) An elected official of the county.

Rendered Tuesday, June 20, 2023 Page 2 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 45 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

Page 43 of 61

TGalla
Highlight

TGalla
Highlight



(h) An elected official of a township in the planning area.
(i) An elected official of a city or village in the planning area.
(j) A representative of a business that generates a managed material in the planning area.
(k) A representative of the regional planning agency whose territory includes the planning area.
(l) Any additional members appointed under subsections (5) or (6) or section 11578(3), as applicable.
(5) The CAA may appoint to the planning committee as an additional regular member 1 representative that

does business in or resides in an adjacent municipality outside the planning area.
(6) CAAs preparing a multicounty MMP under section 11571 shall appoint a single planning committee.

For each county, both of the following additional members may be appointed to the planning committee:
(a) An elected official of the county or a municipality in the planning area.
(b) A representative from a business that generates managed materials within the planning area.
(7) If the CAA has difficulty finding qualified individuals to serve on the planning committee, the

department may approve a reduction in the number of members of the planning committee. However, at a
minimum, the planning committee shall include all of the following members:

(a) A representative of the solid waste disposal industry that provides service in the planning area.
(b) A representative of a materials utilization facility that provides service in the planning area.
(c) Two individuals, each of whom is either a member of an environmental interest group who resides in

the planning area or a representative of the regional planning agency.
(d) An elected official of the county.
(e) An elected official of a township in the planning area.
(f) An elected official of a city or village in the planning area.
History: Add. 2022, Act 250, Eff. Mar. 29, 2023.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Solid Waste Act

324.11573 Planning committee; responsibilities.
Sec. 11573. In addition to its other responsibilities under part 115, the planning committee shall do all of

the following:
(a) Direct the DPA in the preparation of the MMP.
(b) Review and approve the DPA's work program under section 11587(4).
(c) Identify relevant local materials management policies and priorities.
(d) Ensure coordination in the preparation of the MMP.
(e) Advise counties and municipalities with respect to the MMP.
(f) Ensure that the DPA is fulfilling the requirements of part 115 as to both the content of the MMP and

public participation. The planning committee shall notify the DPA of any deficiencies. If the deficiencies are
not addressed by the DPA to the planning committee's satisfaction, the planning committee shall notify the
CAA. If the deficiencies are not addressed by the CAA to the planning committee's satisfaction, the planning
committee shall notify the department. The department shall address the deficiencies and may prepare the
MMP under section 11575(11).

History: Add. 2022, Act 250, Eff. Mar. 29, 2023.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Solid Waste Act

324.11574 Designated planning agency (DPA); responsibilities; copies; revisions; formal
action.
Sec. 11574. (1) In addition to its other responsibilities under part 115, a DPA shall do all of the following:
(a) Serve as the primary government resource in the planning area for information about the MMP and the

MMP development process.
(b) Under the direction of the planning committee, prepare an MMP.
(c) During the preparation of an MMP, solicit the advice of and consult with all of the following:
(i) Periodically, the municipalities, appropriate organizations, and the private sector, including materials

management facility operators, in the planning area.
(ii) The appropriate county or regional planning agency.
(iii) Counties adjacent to the planning area and municipalities in those counties.
(d) Not less than 10 days before each public meeting at which the DPA will discuss the MMP, give notice

Rendered Tuesday, June 20, 2023 Page 3 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 45 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

Page 44 of 61

TGalla
Highlight



of the meeting to the chief elected official of each municipality within the planning area and any other person
within the planning area that requests notice. The notice shall indicate as precisely as possible the subject
matter being discussed.

(e) Obtain written approval of the MMP from the planning committee.
(f) Submit a copy of the MMP as approved by the planning committee to all of the following with a notice

specifying the end of the public comment period under subdivision (h):
(i) The department.
(ii) The legislative body of each municipality within the planning area.
(iii) The legislative body of each county or municipality adjacent to the planning area that has requested

the opportunity to review the MMP.
(iv) The regional planning agency for each county included in the planning area.
(g) Publish a notice in a newspaper or by electronic media having major circulation or viewership in the

planning area. The notice shall indicate a location where copies of the proposed MMP are available for public
inspection or copying at cost, specify the end of the public comment period under subdivision (h), and solicit
public comment. Notice posted in electronic media shall remain posted until the end of the public comment
period.

(h) Receive public comments on the MMP for not less than 60 days after the publication of the notice
under subdivision (g).

(i) During the public comment period under subdivision (h), conduct a public hearing on the MMP. Not
less than 30 days before the hearing, the planning committee shall publish a notice of the hearing in a
newspaper or by electronic media having major circulation or viewership in the planning area. Notice posted
in electronic media shall remain posted until the end of the public hearing. The notice shall indicate a location
where copies of the proposed MMP are available for public inspection or copying at cost and shall indicate
the time and place of the public hearing. The same notice may be used to satisfy the requirements of this
subdivision and subdivision (g). The planning committee shall submit to the department proof of publication
of notice under this subdivision and subdivision (g).

(j) Submit to the planning committee a summary of the comments received during the public comment
period.

(2) The DPA, or the department if the department prepares an MMP, shall use a standard format in
preparing the MMP. The department shall prepare the standard format and provide a copy of the standard
format to each DPA that the department knows will prepare an MMP. The department shall provide the
standard format to any other person upon request.

(3) The planning committee shall consider the comment summary received from the DPA under subsection
(1)(j) and may direct the DPA to revise the MMP. The DPA shall revise the MMP as directed by the planning
committee. Not more than 30 days after the end of the public comment period, the DPA shall submit the
proposed MMP, as revised, if applicable, to the planning committee.

(4) Not more than 30 days after the MMP is submitted to the planning committee under subsection (3), the
planning committee shall take formal action on the MMP and, if the planning committee approves the MMP
in compliance with section 11572(3), the DPA shall submit the MMP to the CAA.

History: Add. 2022, Act 250, Eff. Mar. 29, 2023.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Solid Waste Act

324.11575 Approval or rejection of materials management plan; deadline and extension;
implementation of final plan.
Sec. 11575. (1) Not more than 60 days after the MMP is submitted to the CAA under section 11574(4), the

CAA shall approve or reject the MMP and notify the planning committee. A notice that the CAA rejects the
MMP shall state the specific reasons for the rejection.

(2) Not more than 30 days after notice of the rejection of the MMP is sent under subsection (1), the
planning committee may revise the MMP and submit the revised MMP to the CAA. After a revised MMP is
timely submitted to the CAA under this subsection or the 30-day period expires and a revised MMP is not
submitted, the CAA shall approve or reject the revised MMP or original MMP, respectively, and notify the
planning committee.

(3) If the CAA rejects the MMP under subsection (2), the CAA shall prepare and approve an MMP, subject
to the continued running of the 3-year period under section 11571(8).

(4) Not more than 10 business days after the CAA approves an MMP under subsection (1), (2), or (3), the

Rendered Tuesday, June 20, 2023 Page 4 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 45 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

Page 45 of 61



DPA shall submit a copy of the MMP to the legislative body of each municipality located within the planning
area.

(5) Not more than 120 days after the MMP is submitted to the legislative body of a municipality, the
legislative body may approve or reject the MMP. The legislative body shall notify the DPA of an approval or
rejection.

(6) Within 30 days after the deadline for municipal notification to the DPA under subsection (5), the DPA
shall notify the department which municipalities timely approved the MMP, which timely rejected the MMP,
and which did not timely notify the DPA of approval or rejection. The notice shall be accompanied by a copy
of the MMP. If the MMP is not approved by at least 2/3 of the municipalities that timely notify the DPA of
their approval or rejection under subsection (5), then the department shall proceed under subsection (7) or (9).
If the MMP is approved by at least 2/3 of the municipalities that timely notify the DPA of their approval or
rejection under subsection (5), then subsection (9) applies.

(7) The department may approve an extension of a deadline under subsections (2) to (6) if the extension is
requested by the entity subject to the deadline within a reasonable time after the issues giving rise to the need
for an extension arise.

(8) If the MMP is neither approved nor rejected by a deadline established in this subpart, subject to any
extension under subsection (7), the MMP is considered automatically approved at that step in the approval
process, and the approval process shall continue at the next step. This subsection does not apply to failure of
an individual municipality to approve or disapprove the MMP under subsection (5).

(9) Within 180 days after the MMP is submitted to the department under subsection (6), the department
shall approve or reject the MMP. The department shall approve the MMP if the MMP complies with part 115.
If the department approves the MMP, the MMP is final. If the department rejects the MMP, subsection (11)
applies.

(10) Before approving or rejecting an MMP under subsection (9), the department may return the MMP to
the CAA with a written request for modifications necessary for approval under subsection (9) or to clarify the
MMP. If the department returns the MMP for modifications, the running of the 180-day period under
subsection (9) is tolled for 90 days or until the CAA responds to the department's request, whichever occurs
first. If the CAA does not approve the modifications requested by the department, subsection (11) applies.

(11) Subject to subsection (9), if a CAA does not prepare an MMP or the MMP does not timely obtain an
approval required by part 115, the department may prepare and approve an MMP for the county. An MMP
prepared and approved by the department is final. Once the MMP is final, the county shall implement the
MMP.

History: Add. 2022, Act 250, Eff. Mar. 29, 2023.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Solid Waste Act

324.11576 Amending a materials management plan; procedures; permissible changes
without amendment.
Sec. 11576. (1) Amendments to an MMP shall be made only as provided in subsection (2), (3), or (4).
(2) The department shall initiate the adoption of 1 or more amendments to MMPs if the department

determines that the guidance provided by legislation, by this state's solid waste policy, or by reports and
initiatives of the department has significantly changed the required contents of MMPs. The procedure for
adopting an amendment to the MMP under this subsection is the same as the procedure for adoption of an
initial MMP.

(3) The CAA may initiate 1 or more amendments to an MMP by filing a notice of intent with the
department. Except as provided in subsection (4), the procedure for adopting an amendment to the MMP
under this subsection is the same as the procedure for adoption of an initial MMP except as follows:

(a) The county submits a notice of intent on its own initiative rather than in response to a request from the
department under section 11571.

(b) If the CAA rejects a revised amendment under section 11575(2), the amendment process terminates.
(c) Section 11575(11) does not apply. Instead, if any required approval is not timely granted, the

amendment process terminates and the amendments are not adopted.
(4) If, after a notice of intent is filed under subsection (3), the department determines that the amendment

will increase materials utilization or the recovery of managed material and complies with part 115, the
department may authorize the CAA to amend the MMP. To amend the MMP, the CAA shall do all of the
following:

Rendered Tuesday, June 20, 2023 Page 5 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 45 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

Page 46 of 61



(a) Submit a copy of the amendment to all of the following with a notice specifying the end of the public
comment period under subdivision (c):

(i) The department.
(ii) The legislative body of each municipality within the planning area.
(iii) The legislative body of each county or municipality adjacent to the planning area that requested the

opportunity to review the MMP under section 11574(1)(f).
(iv) The regional planning agency for each county included in the planning area.
(b) Publish a notice in a newspaper or by electronic media having major circulation or viewership in the

planning area. The notice shall indicate a location where copies of the amendment are available for public
inspection or copying at cost, specify the end of the public comment period under subdivision (c), and solicit
public comment. Notice posted in electronic media shall remain posted until the end of the public comment
period.

(c) Receive public comments on the amendment for not less than 30 days after the publication of the notice
under subdivision (b).

(d) If timely requested, conduct a public meeting on the amendment during the public comment period
under subdivision (c). Not less than 15 days before the public meeting, the planning committee shall publish a
notice of the meeting in a newspaper or by electronic media having major circulation or viewership in the
planning area. Notice posted in electronic media shall remain posted until the end of the public meeting. The
notice shall indicate a location where copies of the proposed amendment are available for public inspection or
copying at cost and shall indicate the time and place of the public meeting. The same notice may be used to
satisfy the requirements of this subdivision and subdivision (b). The planning committee shall submit to the
department proof of notice publication under this subdivision and subdivision (b).

(e) Prepare and consider a summary of the comments received during the public comment period. The
CAA may revise the amendment in response to the public comments.

(f) Submit the amendment to the department in writing. The department shall provide the CAA with
written approval of the submitted amendment.

(5) A county shall keep its MMP current. The following changes do not require an amendment if made in a
supplement to the MMP provided for by the department under section 11574(2) for the purpose of changes
not requiring an amendment:

(a) Transportation infrastructure.
(b) Population density.
(c) Materials management facility inventory.
(d) Local ordinances, to the extent that the ordinances regulate noise, litter, odor, dust, and other site

nuisances at a materials management facility, in addition to landscaping, screening, other ancillary
construction details, and hours of operation at a materials utilization facility; do not regulate the development
or other operational aspects of a materials management facility or the location of a disposal area; and are not
more stringent than the requirements of part 115.

(6) Changes made without amendment under subsection (5) shall be incorporated in the next amendment
made under subsection (2) or (3).

(7) By every fifth anniversary date of the approval of the initial MMP, the CAA shall do both of the
following:

(a) Obtain from the planning committee an MMP review. The CAA shall timely direct the planning
committee to prepare and submit the review. The purpose of the review is to ensure that the MMP complies
with part 115 and to evaluate the progress that has been made in meeting the MMP's materials management
goals, including the benchmark recycling standards.

(b) After considering the MMP review under subdivision (a), submit to the department 1 of the following,
as appropriate:

(i) A notice of intent to prepare an MMP amendment.
(ii) A statement indicating that an amendment is not needed to advance the materials management goals.
(8) The department may review an MMP periodically and determine if any amendments are necessary to

comply with part 115. If the department determines that an amendment to a specific MMP is necessary, all of
the following apply:

(a) The department, after notice and opportunity for a public hearing held pursuant to the administrative
procedures act of 1969, 1969 PA 306, MCL 24.201 to 24.328, may withdraw approval of the MMP or the
noncompliant portion of the MMP.

(b) The department shall establish a schedule for compliance with part 115.
(c) If the planning area does not amend its MMP within the schedule established under subdivision (b), the

department shall amend the MMP to address the deficiencies.
Rendered Tuesday, June 20, 2023 Page 6 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 45 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

Page 47 of 61



History: Add. 2022, Act 250, Eff. Mar. 29, 2023.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Solid Waste Act

324.11577 Materials management plan goals.
Sec. 11577. The goals of an MMP are all of the following:
(a) To prevent adverse effects on the environment, natural resources, or the public health, safety, or welfare

resulting from improper collection, processing, recovery, or disposal of managed materials, including
protection of surface water and groundwater, air, and land.

(b) To ensure managed materials are sustainably managed to achieve benefits to the economy,
communities, and the environment.

(c) To ensure that all managed material generated in the planning area is collected and recovered,
processed, or disposed at materials management facilities that comply with state statutes and rules or managed
appropriately at out-of-state facilities.

History: Add. 2022, Act 250, Eff. Mar. 29, 2023.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Solid Waste Act

324.11578 Materials management plan requirements.
Sec. 11578. (1) An MMP shall meet all of the following requirements:
(a) Include measurable, objective, and specific goals for the planning area for solid waste diversion from

disposal areas, including, but not limited to, the municipal solid waste recycling rate goal under section
11507, the benchmark recycling standards, and the material utilization and reduction activities identified by
the MMP.

(b) Include an implementation strategy for the county to demonstrate progress toward or meet the materials
management goals by the time of the 5-year MMP review under section 11576(7). The implementation
strategy shall include, but is not limited to, all of the following:

(i) How progress will be made to reduce the amount of organic material being disposed of, through food
waste reduction, composting, and anaerobic digestion.

(ii) How progress will be made to reduce the amount of recyclable materials being disposed of, through
increased recycling, including expanding convenient access and recycling at single and multifamily
dwellings, businesses, and institutions.

(iii) A process whereby each of a planning area's materials utilization facilities are evaluated based on
information contained in reports submitted to the department on an annual basis.

(iv) A description of the resources needed for meeting the materials management goals and how the
development of necessary materials utilization facilities and activities will be promoted.

(v) A description of how the benchmark recycling standards will be met.
(vi) A timetable for implementation.
(c) Identify by type and tonnage all managed material generated in the planning area, to determine the

planning area's managed material capacity need and all managed material that is included in the planning
area's materials management goals. Amounts of material may be estimated using a formula provided by the
department.

(d) Require that a proposed materials management facility meet the requirements of part 115 and be
consistent with the materials management goals.

(e) To the extent practicable, identify and evaluate current and planned materials management
infrastructure and systems that contribute or will contribute to meeting the goal under section 11577(c) and
other options to meet that goal.

(f) Include an inventory of the names and addresses of all of the following, subject to subdivision (g):
(i) Existing disposal areas.
(ii) Materials utilization facilities that meet both of the following requirements:
(A) Are in operation on the effective date of the amendatory act that added this section.
(B) On the effective date of the amendatory act that added this section, comply with part 115 or, within 1

year after that date, are in the process of becoming compliant.
(iii) Waste diversion centers for which notification has been given to the department under section 11521b.
(g) Include a materials management facility in the inventory under subdivision (f) only if the owner or

operator of the facility has submitted to the county a written acknowledgment indicating that the owner or
Rendered Tuesday, June 20, 2023 Page 7 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 45 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

Page 48 of 61



operator is aware of the proposed inclusion of the facility in the MMP relative to the materials capacity needs
identified in subdivision (c) and that the facility has the indicated capacity to manage the materials identified
under subdivision (h). The MMP shall include a statement that the owner or operator of each facility listed in
the MMP has submitted such an acknowledgment to the county. If the submitted acknowledgments do not
document sufficient capacity for disposal or utilization of the identified managed materials to reach the
MMP's materials management capacity requirements, including the materials management goals, the MMP
shall identify specific strategies, including a schedule and approach to develop and fund capacity.

(h) Describe the facilities inventoried pursuant to subdivision (f), including a summary of the deficiencies,
if any, of the facilities in meeting current materials management needs. The description shall, at a minimum,
include all of the following information:

(i) The facility latitude and longitude.
(ii) The estimated facility acreage.
(iii) A description of the materials managed.
(iv) The processes for handling materials at the facility.
(v) The total authorized capacity of the facility.
(i) Ensure that the materials management facilities that are identified as necessary to be sited can be

developed in compliance with state law pertaining to protection of the public health and the environment,
considering the available land in the planning area and the technical feasibility of, and economic costs
associated with, the facilities.

(j) Include an enforceable mechanism to meet the goal of section 11577(c) and otherwise implement the
MMP, and identify the party responsible to ensure compliance with part 115. The MMP may contain a
mechanism for the county and municipalities in the planning area to assist the department and the department
of state police in conducting the inspection program established in section 11526(2) and (3). This subdivision
does not preclude the private sector's participation in providing materials management services consistent
with the MMP for the planning area.

(k) Calculate the municipal solid waste recycling rate for the planning area.
(l) Describe the materials management transportation infrastructure.
(m) Include current and projected population densities and identify population centers and centers of

managed material generation in the planning area, using a formula provided by the department, to
demonstrate that the capacity required for managed material is met.

(n) Describe the mechanisms by which municipalities in the planning area will ensure convenient recycling
access, such as 1 or more of the following:

(i) Assignment of the responsibility to the county or an authority.
(ii) A franchise agreement.
(iii) An intergovernmental agreement.
(iv) Municipal service.
(v) Licensing under an ordinance.
(vi) A public-private partnership.
(o) Specify a recommended minimum level of recycling service that incorporates the access requirements

of the benchmark recycling standards. The county or a municipality within the planning area may, through an
appropriate enforceable mechanism, require haulers operating in its jurisdiction to provide the recommended
level or a different minimum level of recycling service.

(p) Identify the DPA and the entity or entities responsible for each of the following and document the
appropriateness of the DPA and other identified entities to carry out their respective responsibilities:

(i) Implementing the access requirements of the benchmark recycling standards.
(ii) Identifying the materials utilization framework and the achievement of the materials management

goals.
(iii) Otherwise monitoring, implementing, and enforcing the MMP and providing any required reports to

the department.
(iv) Administering the funding mechanisms identified in section 11581 that will be used to implement the

MMP.
(v) Ensuring compliance with part 115.
This state may serve as a responsible party under this subdivision on behalf of a municipality if the

municipality is under a financial consent order or in receivership.
(q) With respect to education and outreach for residents and businesses in the planning area, do both of the

following:
(i) Provide a strategic plan that identifies roles, responsibilities, funding sources, and methods for persons

providing the education and outreach services.
Rendered Tuesday, June 20, 2023 Page 8 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 45 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

Page 49 of 61



(ii) Describe the county or regional role in providing continuing recycling education. The recycling
education shall include, but is not limited to, providing a recycling guide, in hard copy at select public
locations and electronically on a cell phone-friendly website. The recycling guide shall do all of the
following:

(A) Identify recycling locations.
(B) Identify recyclable materials.
(C) Explain how to prepare recyclable materials for collection.
(D) Describe other best practices.
(E) Include a listed telephone number for additional information.
(r) Include a siting process under section 11579 and a copy of any ordinance, law, rule, or regulation of a

municipality, county, or governmental authority within the planning area that applies to the siting process.
(s) Take into consideration the MMPs of counties adjacent to the planning area as they relate to the

planning area's needs.
(t) Document all opportunities for participation and involvement of the public, all affected agencies and

parties, and the private sector in the preparation of the MMP.
(2) An MMP may include management plans for debris from environmental damage, for debris from

disasters, or for other materials, such as construction or demolition waste, not otherwise required to be
covered by an MMP. A management plan for debris from disasters in an MMP may include recommendations
for incorporation of disaster debris management plans into municipal, county, or regional emergency
management plans.

(3) If a solid waste landfill is proposed to be developed in the planning area within 2 miles of a
municipality that is located adjacent to the planning area, or if a solid waste processing and transfer facility or
materials utilization facility is proposed to be developed in the planning area within 1 mile of such a
municipality, both of the following apply:

(a) The CAA shall notify the legislative body of the adjacent municipality of the proposed development in
writing. The notice shall include a copy of this subsection.

(b) The planning committee shall provide the adjacent municipality an opportunity to comment on the
proposed development.

History: Add. 2022, Act 250, Eff. Mar. 29, 2023.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Solid Waste Act

324.11579 Materials management plan; siting process; exception.
Sec. 11579. (1) An MMP shall include a siting process with a set of minimum criteria for the purposes of

section 11585(3).
(2) A materials utilization facility need not be sited if the CAA or DPA demonstrates to the department that

the planning area has available capacity sufficient to address the managed materials identified by the MMP as
being generated in the planning area.

(3) The siting process shall not include siting criteria that are more restrictive than state law if a materials
utilization facility could not be developed anywhere in the planning area under those criteria.

History: Add. 2022, Act 250, Eff. Mar. 29, 2023.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Solid Waste Act

324.11580 Preparation of materials management plan by the department; requirements.
Sec. 11580. (1) In addition to the other requirements of part 115, if the county board of commissioners,

municipalities, and regional planning agency do not timely submit a notice of intent to prepare an MMP and
the department prepares an MMP as authorized under section 11571, the MMP prepared by the department
shall comply with all of the following:

(a) Automatically find all materials utilization facilities or solid waste processing and transfer facilities that
are exempt from permit and license requirements, that comply with local zoning requirements, and that are
identified in the MMP to be consistent with the MMP.

(b) Not allow approval of additional solid waste landfill disposal capacity unless the county board of
commissioners has made the demonstration required under section 11509(9).

(c) Require all haulers serving the planning area to provide recycling access consistent with the access

Rendered Tuesday, June 20, 2023 Page 9 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 45 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

Page 50 of 61



requirements of the benchmark recycling standards.
(2) If the department prepares an MMP, the MMP need not contain a requirement for a proposed materials

management facility to meet additional siting criteria or obtain host community approval under section
11585(3)(c).

History: Add. 2022, Act 250, Eff. Mar. 29, 2023.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Solid Waste Act

324.11581 Implementation of materials management plan; funding mechanisms.
Sec. 11581. (1) In addition to the materials management planning grants under section 11587, a

municipality or county may fund the implementation of an MMP through any of the following methods, if
applicable and to the extent authorized by the mechanism:

(a) A millage under 1917 PA 298, MCL 123.261.
(b) A municipal utility service fee.
(c) Special assessments under 1957 PA 185, MCL 123.731 to 123.786; 1954 PA 188, MCL 41.721 to

41.738; or the township and village public improvement and public service act, 1923 PA 116, MCL 41.411 to
41.419.

(d) A service provider franchise agreement.
(e) Hauler licensing fees.
(f) A voter-approved millage.
(g) A general fund appropriation.
(h) Supplemental fees for service.
(i) A surcharge under section 8a of the urban cooperation act of 1967, 1967 (Ex Sess) PA 7, MCL

124.508a.
(j) A landfill surcharge.
(k) A flow control fee structure.
(l) Any other lawful mechanism.
(2) Appropriate uses for funding described in subsection (1) may include, but are not limited to, the

following:
(a) Recycling programs.
(b) Organic materials management.
(c) Education and outreach regarding recycling and materials utilization.
(d) Relevant market development.
(e) Materials reduction and reuse initiatives.
History: Add. 2022, Act 250, Eff. Mar. 29, 2023.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Solid Waste Act

324.11582 County approval agency; certification of materials management goals; eligibility
for assistance.
Sec. 11582. (1) The CAA shall certify to the department the CAA's progress toward meeting all

components of its materials management goals. The first certification shall be submitted by the first June 30
that is more than 2 years after the department's approval of the initial MMP or MMP amendment. Subsequent
certifications shall be submitted by June 30 every 2 years after the first certification.

(2) If a county does not make progress toward meeting its benchmark recycling standards and ultimately
the municipal solid waste recycling rate goal under section 11507, the county is ineligible for assistance from
the recycling access and voluntary participation program under section 11550(9) until both of the following
requirements are met:

(a) The county adopts an ordinance or other enforceable mechanism to ensure that any solid waste hauler
providing curbside solid waste hauling service also offers curbside recycling service to dwellings of 4 or
fewer units in the planning area.

(b) Any remaining deficiencies in a county's progress toward meeting its materials management goals are
addressed.

History: Add. 2022, Act 250, Eff. Mar. 29, 2023.

Popular name: Act 451

Rendered Tuesday, June 20, 2023 Page 10 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 45 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

Page 51 of 61



Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Solid Waste Act

324.11583 Enforceability of certain local and state laws.
Sec. 11583. An ordinance, law, rule, regulation, policy, or practice of a municipality, county, or

governmental authority created by statute is not enforceable if any of the following apply:
(a) It conflicts with part 115.
(b) It prohibits or regulates the location or development of a materials management facility and is not part

of or not consistent with the materials management plan for the county.
(c) It violates section 207 of the Michigan zoning enabling act, 2006 PA 110, MCL 125.3207, with respect

to a materials management facility.
History: Add. 2022, Act 250, Eff. Mar. 29, 2023.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Solid Waste Act

324.11584 Flow of solid waste or managed material; control requirements; departmental
duties; database.
Sec. 11584. (1) A county, municipality, authority, or regional planning agency that owns or operates a

materials management facility may adopt requirements controlling the flow of solid waste or managed
material to the materials management facility, to the extent allowed by the interstate commerce clause, clause
3 of section 8 of article I of the Constitution of the United States.

(2) The county board of commissioners may ensure that the necessary materials management
authorizations or fees or any other regulatory ordinances or agreements needed to achieve the materials
management goals are in effect.

(3) The department shall do all of the following:
(a) Maintain a database for materials management facilities to report to the department information, as

determined by the department, required under part 115.
(b) Provide materials management facilities with instructions necessary to add information to the database.
(c) Provide CAAs access to information in the database.
History: Add. 2022, Act 250, Eff. Mar. 29, 2023.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Solid Waste Act

324.11585 Disposal area or materials utilization facility; consistency with materials
management plan; captive type III landfill; independent evaluation; coal ash.
Sec. 11585. (1) If a disposal area that does not require a license or permit under part 115 or a materials

utilization facility is proposed to be located in a local unit of government that has a zoning ordinance, the
disposal area or materials utilization facility is consistent with the MMP if it complies with the zoning
ordinance and the owner or operator of the proposed disposal area or materials utilization facility presents
documentation to the department and the CAA from the local unit of government exercising zoning authority
demonstrating that the disposal area complies with local zoning.

(2) A disposal area or materials utilization facility is automatically consistent with the MMP if the specific
facility or type of facility is identified in the MMP as being automatically consistent.

(3) A materials management facility that is not automatically consistent with the MMP is considered
consistent if, as determined by the CAA or other entity specified by the MMP and by the department, all of
the following requirements are met:

(a) The MMP authorizes that type of materials management facility to be sited by following the siting
procedure and meeting the minimum siting criteria included in the MMP under section 11579, or the facility
is a captive type III landfill and both of the following apply:

(i) The landfill accepts only waste generated by the owner or operator of the landfill.
(ii) The landfill met local land use requirements when initially sited.
(b) The materials management facility follows the siting procedure and meets minimum siting criteria in

the MMP.
(c) The materials management facility meets either of the following requirements:
(i) Has host community approval.
(ii) Meets any supplemental siting criteria in the MMP for materials management facilities that do not have

Rendered Tuesday, June 20, 2023 Page 11 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 45 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

Page 52 of 61



host community approval.
(4) The CAA or other entity specified by the MMP shall promptly notify the owner or operator of the

materials management facility in writing of its determination under subsection (3) whether the materials
management facility is consistent with the MMP.

(5) The department shall determine whether a materials management facility is consistent with the MMP
through an independent evaluation as part of the review process for an application for a registration, for
approval under a general permit, or for a construction permit or operating license. The applicant for a permit
for a materials management facility shall include in the application documentation of the facility's consistency
with the MMP.

(6) A landfill, other than a captive type III landfill, or a municipal solid waste incinerator need not be sited
if the CAA demonstrates to the department through its materials management plan that the planning area has
at least 66 months of available solid waste disposal capacity.

(7) A captive facility that is an existing coal ash landfill or existing coal ash impoundment is considered
consistent with and included in the MMP if the disposal area continues to accept waste generated only by the
owner of the disposal area and meets either or both of the following requirements:

(a) Was issued a construction permit and licensed for operation under this part.
(b) Met local land use law requirements when initially sited or constructed.
(8) A coal ash impoundment permitted, licensed, or otherwise in existence on the date of approval of the

solid waste management plan for the planning area where the coal ash impoundment is located shall be
considered to be consistent with the plan and included in the plan.

History: Add. 2022, Act 250, Eff. Mar. 29, 2023.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Solid Waste Act

324.11586 State solid waste management plan.
Sec. 11586. (1) The state solid waste management plan consists of the state solid waste plan and all MMPs

approved by the department.
(2) The department shall consult and assist in the preparation and implementation of MMPs.
(3) The department may undertake or contract for studies or reports necessary or useful in the preparation

of the state solid waste management plan.
(4) The department shall promote policies that encourage resource recovery and establishment of materials

utilization facilities.
History: Add. 2022, Act 250, Eff. Mar. 29, 2023.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Solid Waste Act

324.11587 Materials management planning grant program.
Sec. 11587. (1) Subject to appropriations, a materials management planning grant program is established to

provide grants, to be known as materials management planning grants, to county boards of commissioners for
the use of CAAs. If a county board of commissioners is not the CAA, the county board of commissioners
shall make awarded grant money available to the CAA within 60 days after receipt. The department may
promulgate rules for the implementation of the grant program. Grant funds shall be awarded pursuant to a
grant agreement. If the department prepares the MMP, grant funds appropriated for local planning may be
used by the department for MMP preparation.

(2) Grants shall be used for administrative costs for preparing, implementing, and maintaining an MMP,
including, but not limited to, the following:

(a) Development of a work program as described in subsection (4)(b) and R 299.4704 and R 299.4705 of
the MAC, including a prior work program.

(b) Developing an initial MMP and amending the MMP.
(c) Ensuring public participation.
(d) Determining whether new materials management facilities are consistent with the MMP.
(e) Collecting and submitting data for the database utilized by the department for materials management

facility reporting purposes, and evaluating data in the database for the planning area.
(f) Recycling education and outreach.
(g) Recycling and materials utilization programs.

Rendered Tuesday, June 20, 2023 Page 12 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 45 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

Page 53 of 61



(h) Preparation of required reports to the department.
(i) MMP implementation.
(j) Efforts to obtain support for the MMP and planning process from local units of government.
(3) Materials management planning grants shall cover 100% of eligible costs up to the authorized

maximum amount as specified by rule.
(4) Materials management planning grants shall be awarded annually. To be eligible for grants in the first 3

years of the grant program, the CAA must do both of the following:
(a) Submit a notice of intent to prepare an MMP under section 11571.
(b) Within 180 days after submitting the notice of intent to prepare an MMP, submit to and obtain

department approval of a work program for preparing the MMP. The work program shall be prepared by the
DPA and reviewed and approved by the planning committee. The work program shall describe the activities
for developing and implementing the MMP and associated costs to be covered by the county and the grant.

(5) In each of the first 3 years of the grant program, the amount of a grant shall equal the sum of the
following:

(a) $60,000.00 for each county in the planning area.
(b) An additional $10,000.00 for each county in the planning area if the planning area includes more than 1

county.
(c) Fifty cents for each resident of the planning area, up to 600,000 residents.
(6) To be eligible for grants in the fourth and subsequent years of the grant program, the county must have

an approved work program under subsection (4) or an approved MMP. In the fourth and subsequent years of
the grant program, the amount of a grant to the CAA shall equal the sum of the following, as applicable:

(a) $60,000.00 for each county in the planning area.
(b) An additional $10,000.00 for each county in the planning area if the planning area includes more than 1

county and the CAAs were responsible for preparing the MMP.
(7) A grantee under this section shall keep records, subject to audit, documenting use of the grant for MMP

development and implementation.
(8) For the purpose of determining the number of counties in a planning area under this section, the

inclusion or exclusion of a municipality under section 11571(4) shall not be considered.
History: Add. 2022, Act 250, Eff. Mar. 29, 2023.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Solid Waste Act

Rendered Tuesday, June 20, 2023 Page 13 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 45 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

Page 54 of 61



SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 
AMENDMENT APPROVAL PROCESS 

Michigan.gov/EGLE 800-662-9278 Rev. 12/2021 

 

Plan is not amended 

Plan amendment suggested to, or required by, the Solid Waste Management Planning Committee 
(SWMPC) and a signed Notice of Intent is filed by the BOC to EGLE.

SWMPC meets in public to direct drafting of the amendment. The Designated Planning Agency (DPA) 
supports the process (notices, minutes, mailings, etc.) and prepares the Plan amendment as directed. 

Upon authorization by the SWMPC, the DPA makes the draft Pan amendment available for public review for 
at least 90 days with public hearing (a notice in a newspaper of not less than 30 days prior to the public 

hearing date is required) handling the notices and draft mailings as required. 

At the end of the public comment period, the DPA has 30 days to revise the draft Plan amendment and 
return it to the SWMPC for approval and recommends it the Board of Commissioners (BOC). 

Plan is not amended 

Draft Plan amendment goes to all municipalities 
in the county for 67% local approval 

Does the BOC 
approve the draft Plan 

amendment? 

Do 67% of 
municipalities approve of the 

amendment? 

Draft Plan amendment sent to EGLE for review

Plan is amended 
Does EGLE a pprove the 
Draft plan amendment? 

No 

No 
BOC sends amendment back 

to SWMPC with objections 

SWMPC responds to BOC 
within 30 days 

 Does the BOC 
approve amendment? 

Yes 

Yes 

Yes 

No 

Yes 

No 
*See Section 324.11536 and
R.299.4708 for further details on
the amendment approval process.

Page 55 of 61



Cedar Empire Glen Arbor Glen Lake Gov. Center Elmwood Leland Northport P-town

Jan Tons 30.11 11.28 10.59 6.19 8.66 48.68 7.7 21.31 30.80

Feb Tons 28.33 9.35 8.66 4.40 12.10 46.06 8.94 17.88 29.43

Mar Tons 26.13 9.76 9.49 4.68 12.93 49.91 6.88 17.05 29.29

Apr Tons 29.75 11.00 9.90 5.36 16.91 51.98 14.71 19.8 29.43

May Tons 35.15 13.61 19.80 6.05 16.36 58.00 10.04 23.79 33.41

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

2022 Recycling Volumes by location

Page 56 of 61



Cedar Empire Glen Arbor Glen Lake
Gov.

Center
Elmwood Northport P-town

Suttons
Bay

Jan Tons 27.38 9.75 13.38 6.25 17.00 45.40 19.88 21.88 31.50

Feb Tons 22.55 8.00 8.25 4.38 14.50 35.50 16.00 18.88 26.63

Mar Tons 28.13 8.13 8.88 5.13 19.13 47.50 19.25 21.00 32.75

Apr Tons 34.65 10.80 12.00 6.60 21.75 46.80 20.25 23.85 34.65

May Tons 36 14.50 16.38 6.25 21.5 45.88 24.50 23.5 42.13

0.00

5.00

10.00

15.00

20.00

25.00

30.00

35.00

40.00

45.00

50.00

2023 Recycling Volumes by Location

Page 57 of 61



Gov. Center 5/22 Glen Lake 6/26 Peshawbestwon 9/13 Elmwood 10/16

LBS. COLLECTED 2020 3,165 3,350 1,421 3,905

LBS. COLLECTED 2021 2,999 2,681 1,204 1,308

LBS. COLLECTED 2022 3,679 2,016 1,204 2,711

LBS. COLLECTED 2023 3352 2918

SHREDDING TOTALS 2020-2023

2020 TOTAL LBS.  11,841
2021 TOTAL LBS.    8,291
2020 TOTAL LBS.    9,610
2023 TOTAL LBS.    6,270  * 2 COLLECTIONS LEFT*

Page 58 of 61



 4:20 PM

July 20, 2023

1 of 3 

County of Leelanau

Report:  Rbudsta2.rpt

Period Ending Date:  June 30, 2023

REVENUE & EXPENSE REPORT - CURRENT

Account Number

Department
Fund   230  Recycling Fund

Month-to-date 
Actual

Current 
Year-to-date 

Actual

Current Year 
Total Amended 

Budget

Percentage 
Spent/Received

Account Name

Fund  230  Recycling Fund
Fiscal Year 2023

Revenues

0.00 0.000.00Fund Balance Forward
000000-401.000

%148,809.00

0.00 81.43364,790.60Current Taxes - PA69 of 2005
000000-402.000

%447,992.00

0.00 100.0024,716.36Prior Years Tax Adjustments
000000-402.003

%0.00

0.00 0.000.00Scrap Tire Cleanup
000000-563.003

%10,000.00

0.00 100.0015,000.00Recycle Collections - G. T. Band
000000-635.000

%0.00

384.00 48.801,708.00Tire Recycling Fees
000000-638.000

%3,500.00

465.00 100.001,330.00Mattress Recycling Fees
000000-639.000

%0.00

422.70 37.421,496.72Refunds & Rebates
000000-687.000

%4,000.00
1,271.70 66.59409,041.68 %614,301.00Revenues Total

Expenses

12.6725.35 126.73Overtime
000000-702.000

%1,000.00

100.00354.83 354.83Salaries
000000-703.000

%0.00

12.730.00 280.00Per Diem
000000-704.000

%2,200.00

25.1328.46 63.58Social Security
000000-717.000

%253.00

25.4831.17 39.49Retirement
000000-719.000

%155.00

107.600.00 1,614.00Office/Operating Supplies
000000-727.000

%1,500.00

0.000.00 0.00Office/Operating - Electronic
000000-727.002

%150.00

0.000.00 0.00Postage
000000-728.000

%1,500.00

0.000.00 0.00Repair and Maintenance
000000-775.000

%50,000.00

38.850.00 129,461.55Contractual - American Waste
000000-801.000

%333,270.00
Page 59 of 61



 4:20 PM

July 20, 2023

2 of 3 

County of Leelanau

Report:  Rbudsta2.rpt

Period Ending Date:  June 30, 2023

REVENUE & EXPENSE REPORT - CURRENT

Account Number

Department
Fund   230  Recycling Fund

Month-to-date 
Actual

Current 
Year-to-date 

Actual

Current Year 
Total Amended 

Budget

Percentage 
Spent/Received

Account Name

6.95325.13 695.13Contractual - Misc Services
000000-801.001

%10,000.00

31.2910,401.00 10,952.89Electronic Recycling
000000-801.002

%35,000.00

22.690.00 22,694.50Contract. Services - HHW
000000-801.003

%100,000.00

43.450.00 10,950.00Site Lease/ Maintenance
000000-801.004

%25,200.00

20.754,150.00 4,150.00Tire Recycling Pickup
000000-801.005

%20,000.00

100.000.00 2,598.00Mattress Recycling
000000-801.006

%0.00

40.000.00 200.00Membership Dues and Fees
000000-807.000

%500.00

31.330.00 47.00Subscriptions
000000-808.000

%150.00

14.850.00 44.54Travel
000000-860.000

%300.00

26.640.00 79.91Taxable Travel
000000-860.001

%300.00

67.09133.70 2,683.60Printing and Publishing
000000-900.000

%4,000.00

49.820.00 249.10Print/Publishing - Electronic
000000-900.002

%500.00

55.140.32 48.52Copy Machine Charges (Rental)
000000-942.000

%88.00

0.000.00 0.00Education
000000-960.000

%500.00

100.000.00 87.00Refunds PA 69
000000-964.001

%0.00

0.000.00 0.00Capital Outlay
000000-970.000

%10,000.00

100.000.00 17,735.00Operating Transfers Out
000000-999.000

%17,735.00
Expenses Total   0.00205,155.37 614,301.0015,449.96 %

-14,178.26 %0.00 0.00203,886.31
66.59614,301.00Revenues Total %409,041.68
0.00614,301.00Expenses  Fund Total 15,449.96 %205,155.37

-564.81-14,178.26 203,886.31

205,155.37303,524.89
YTD Revenues

409,041.68+ -
YTD Expenses

=
 Current Fund Balance

507,411.20

Net (Rev/Exp) 0.00

Beginning/Adjusted Balance

%

Page 60 of 61



 4:20 PM

July 20, 2023

3 of 3 

County of Leelanau

Report:  Rbudsta2.rpt

Period Ending Date:  June 30, 2023

REVENUE & EXPENSE REPORT - CURRENT

Account Number

Department
Fund   230  Recycling Fund

Month-to-date 
Actual

Current 
Year-to-date 

Actual

Current Year 
Total Amended 

Budget

Percentage 
Spent/Received

Account Name

66.59Grand Total for Revenues %

15,449.96 614,301.00
-14,178.26

205,155.37Grand Total for Expenses
Grand Total Net Rev/Exp 203,886.31 -564.81

Operator:   TRUDY
Parameters:

Period Ending Date:  June 30, 2023 Fund Range: 230 - 230     
Page 61 of 61


	Blank Page
	mcl-451-1994-II-3-115-11.pdf
	MATERIALS MANAGEMENT PLANS Division&&&&SUBPART&&&&11&&&&MATERIALS MANAGEMENT PLANS
	324.11571 Section&&&&324.11571 &&&&Approved materials management plan (MMP); county approval; notification of intent; requirements; time period; county approval agency (CAA); duties; electronic mail.
	324.11572 Section&&&&324.11572 &&&&Planning committee; membership; terms.
	324.11573 Section&&&&324.11573 &&&&Planning committee; responsibilities.
	324.11574 Section&&&&324.11574 &&&&Designated planning agency (DPA); responsibilities; copies; revisions; formal action.
	324.11575 Section&&&&324.11575 &&&&Approval or rejection of materials management plan; deadline and extension; implementation of final plan.
	324.11576 Section&&&&324.11576 &&&&Amending a materials management plan; procedures; permissible changes without amendment.
	324.11577 Section&&&&324.11577 &&&&Materials management plan goals.
	324.11578 Section&&&&324.11578 &&&&Materials management plan requirements.
	324.11579 Section&&&&324.11579 &&&&Materials management plan; siting process; exception.
	324.11580 Section&&&&324.11580 &&&&Preparation of materials management plan by the department; requirements.
	324.11581 Section&&&&324.11581 &&&&Implementation of materials management plan; funding mechanisms.
	324.11582 Section&&&&324.11582 &&&&County approval agency; certification of materials management goals; eligibility for assistance.
	324.11583 Section&&&&324.11583 &&&&Enforceability of certain local and state laws.
	324.11584 Section&&&&324.11584 &&&&Flow of solid waste or managed material; control requirements; departmental duties; database.
	324.11585 Section&&&&324.11585 &&&&Disposal area or materials utilization facility; consistency with materials management plan; captive type III landfill; independent evaluation; coal ash.
	324.11586 Section&&&&324.11586 &&&&State solid waste management plan.
	324.11587 Section&&&&324.11587 &&&&Materials management planning grant program.


	2023 Recycling by location.pdf
	2023 Location Chart




